## No. 91325-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRUCE M. BEATTY,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON FISH & WILDLIFE COMMISSION, et al.,

Respondents,

Court of Appeals Case No. 31409-0-III Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of Washington for Kittitas County

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

James L. Buchal, WSB No. 31369 MURPHY & BUCHAL LLP 3425 S.E. Yamhill Street, Suite 100 Portland, OR 97214

Tel: 503-227-1011 Fax: 503-573-1939 Attorney for Petitioner

##

#### **Preliminary Statement**

Petitioner applied for a hydraulic permit to prospect and mine a federal mining claim on federal land along Fortune Creek, a tributary of the Cle Elum River. Unfortunately, his application was reviewed by a Department of Fish and Wildlife biologist whose boss had been reported by petitioner for misconduct and admonished. Respondents limited petitioner's annual operations to August 1st-15th, ostensibly to protect fish. The biologist provided no such restrictions to the prospectors in the immediately-adjacent stream segment, who had not complained about his boss. The Pollution Control Hearings Board, the Superior Court, and Court of Appeals all held that biologists had utterly arbitrary power to forbid any hydraulic activity based on any level of imagined risk to any single fish or fish nest ("redd"). If the decision stands, there is no rule of law in this context, only the rule of biologists.

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Bruce Beatty is a 73 year-old Washington resident who asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its published opinion on January 15, 2015, a copy of which is set forth in the Appendix at pages A1-A41.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May Washington's 1943 hydraulic statute, RCW Chapter 77.55, be interpreted to provide absolute protection against any imagined level of theoretical risk of harm to a single fish, fish egg, or fish nest?
- 2. If the statute may so be interpreted, should this Court overrule *State v. Crown Zellerbach Corp.*, 92 Wn.2d 894 (1979), and find the statute unconstitutionally vague with respect to the term "protection of fish"?
- 3. If the statute is not unconstitutional, is a heightened standard of review necessary to protect against arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory implementation of the statute?
- 4. Was the restriction to operating two weeks a year commensurate with the impact of the activity, and the least restrictive permit condition, as required by Washington law?
- 5. May a Washington official deny a permit based on the socalled "cumulative impact" of discretionary decisions to grant future permits?
- 6. Does the Washington regulatory scheme unconstitutionally frustrate the objectives of federal mining law?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Washington regulations provide a standard set of rules for the sort of micro-scale suction dredge prospecting proposed by petitioner, set forth in WAC 220-110-200, -201, -202 & -206. Petitioner "intended to dredge 60 linear feet of stream bed each year" (A5), leaving holes in the streambed about the size of a hearing room table (*see* Clerk's Paper's (CP) at 162:1-3), akin to pools in a stream.

Petitioner was "one of the five at-the-table stakeholders" representing mining interests in a long and acrimonious rulemaking process. (CP143:1-16.) During one of the public meetings held in connection with the process, there was a personal conflict between the Department employee directly involved with the Fortune Creek rule development (and the permit application), Mr. Perry Harvester, and Appellant's wife. (CP143:19-25.) Appellant complained to the Director of the Habitat Division, who apologized for Mr. Harvester's behavior. (CP144:1-11; Petitioner's Pollution Control Hearings Board Exhibit (PX) No. 17.)

The general rules provide extensive protective provisions (*see*, *e.g.*, PX9 at 13-15 (24 numbered rules with subparts)) which petitioner did not challenge. Rather, Appellant sought to expand the two-week work window in the rules by application for an individual permit, a right

afforded by WAC 220-110-200(2). While Mr. Harvester noted during the rulemaking process that most in-water work times for small, headwater streams increased (PX1; CP189-190), the in-water work time for Fortune Creek, where Appellant was known by Mr. Harvester to mine (CP193:22-194:3), decreased dramatically. Mr. Harvester could not explain this at all. (*See* CP195-196 ("verbal testimony during one of the technical work group meetings" might exist); *see also* CP190-192.).

Appellant submitted his permit application to expand the two-week work window on January 25, 2011. (PX31, at 1.) On March 1, 2011, the Department issued what they called a Hydraulic Project Approval, which refused to extend the work window. (PX33.) Mr. Harvester had direct involvement in Appellant's permit process. (CP171:15-173:8), and was identified as one of the two people most knowledgeable about the permitting process in this particular case. (*See* CP172:3-7.) He was the "habitat program manager" overseeing (with an assistant manager) the particular biologist assigned to process the permit, Mr. William Meyer. (CP173:9-18.)

Mr. Meyer issued a permit to another miner to work the Cle Elum River from July 16th to August 31st of each year, immediately downstream from where petitioner sought to work ("to the confluence of Fortune Creek"). (See PX78.) This miner and many others received the

full five year permit duration (PX78), while Appellant was limited to two years (PX33, at 1).

Appellant timely appealed Mr. Meyer's decision to the Pollution Control Hearings Board (PCHB). A hearing was held on October 31 and November 1, 2011. The PCHB arbitrarily limited Appellant to merely six hours to make his case (CP83:1), and then arbitrarily excluded sworn testimony from hundreds of witnesses swearing that suction dredging had "never killed a fish, dredged up eggs or found any fish eggs or baby fish in the streambeds". (CP134:8-9; PX41 (sample declaration); CP139:12-13 (evidentiary ruling).)

Petitioner presented a detailed evidentiary case that there was no basis for refusing to expand the two-week work window. There was no dispute that petitioner would generally be operating in areas where fish did not spawn, with the possible exception of gravel pockets that develop behind boulders. (A4.) The Department thus, in other cases, routinely issues permits requiring applicants to stay away from pocket gravels. (*E.g.*, PX26, at 11, 165.)

Appellant engaged an independent consulting biologist, Dr. Robert Crittenden, who received his doctorate at the University of Washington Center for Quantitative Sciences in fisheries and forestry, with special expertise in quantifying biological parameters relating to fish. (CP284:24-

25.) Dr. Crittenden explained to the PCHB in detail why the risks to fish were "so vanishingly small as to not be of any regulatory significance whatsoever". (CP300:13-20.) His conclusions were corroborated by numerous other studies demonstrating that the micro-scale suction dredge mining petitioner proposed could have no appreciable impacts on fishery resources. (*See, e.g.,* PX50, PX52; PX57, at 7-8; PX58, at 9, PX62; PX63.)

The Department's primary response to Dr. Crittenden's conclusions was to speculate that there might be small numbers of "threatened" bull trout in the area (CP472:2-473:16). The fish are found all over Washington (*see generally* 64 Fed. Reg. 58,910 (Nov. 1, 1999)), and anglers may kill and keep them in some areas (*see* PX16, at 5).

Mr. Meyer testified that he had never seen one in the Fortune Creek system (CP222:1-4), despite direct night survey experience (CP432:20-433:5). He did, however, think that he had "read a piece of paper that says someone found one" (CP222:10-11), which appeared to refer to the last page of Respondent's Exhibit 16 (RX) (see RX16 & CP457:5). There was also a *draft* report, RX27, which was later updated in PX28 to report "unknown what species of redd, likely bull or brook". (See also CP474:4-477:5 (on cross-examination, Mr. Meyer admits that the redds could have been brook trout).) PX28 also had updated RX16 to

show the presence of brook trout, not bull trout. The Court of Appeals overlooked these corrections. (A9, A27.)

Though Mr. Meyer disagreed, all other evidence, including the Department's own surveys, found Fortune Creek to be poor fish habitat, which is "typical of high gradient, high elevation, cold water streams". (CP306:18-307:1 (independent expert Dr. Crittenden summarizes the results of habitat surveys); *see also* CP179:21-24.) (The federal government notes that preferred spawning habitat for bull trout is "low gradient streams". 63 Fed. Reg. at 31,648.)

The Department nevertheless speculated that there might be a "population" of bull trout in the system (one of many thousands); that this population might be entirely isolated from adjacent stream segments (total fiction) (CP218:16-220:1); and that there might be one last redd in the system; and that petitioner could destroy it entirely.

Bull trout spawn in the fall, and common trout in the spring.

Petitioner demonstrated that there was no evidence to support restrictions on operations before August 1st because no common trout remained in the streambed at this late date. The Department's own witness ultimately acknowledged that new data available after the permit decision, and presented to the PCHB, showed "earlier emergence" (CP398:25), perhaps

a full thirty days earlier (CP399:4-11 (shifting from 90 day testimony to 60 day testimony)).

Petitioner also demonstrated that there was no evidence to support halting mining after August 15th to protect the non-existent "threatened" bull trout. Repeated surveys never found any bull trout nests in August in Fortune Creek (*see* PX30 (listing survey dates and results); *see* CP187:10-22), but the Court of Appeals upheld speculation that redds observed in September were likely constructed in August. (A5.)

On November 30, 2011, the PCHB issued its Findings of Fact,
Conclusions of Law and Order. Petitioner filed a Petition for Review on
December 29, 2011, and the Superior Court issued a memorandum
decision November 14, 2012 (CP773-778) and judgment on January 7,
2013 (CP779-781). Petitioner appealed to the Court of Appeals, which
issued its decision upholding the Superior Court on January 15, 2015.

- E. REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED BECAUSE THIS CASE RAISES VERY SIGNIFICANT QUESTIONS OF LAW AFFLICTED WITH SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.
  - 1. The Department Desperately Needs Guidance as to Proper Interpretation of RCW 77.55.

RCW Chapter 77.55, which was passed in 1943, provides for regulation of "hydraulic projects," meaning "the construction or performance of any work that will use, divert, obstruct or change the natural flow or bed of any of the salt or freshwaters of the state". RCW

77.55.011(8). Where applicants apply for a permit, "[p]rotection of fish life is the only ground upon which approval of a permit may be denied or conditioned". RCW 77.55.021(7)(a). However, as the Vermont Supreme Court explained in *In re Appeal of JAM Golf, LLC*, 969 A.3d 47, 52 (Vt. 2008), ""[p]rotect' . . . cannot be the equivalent of total preservation, because the same regulations allow for development, which, by necessity, must reduce wildlife habitat . . .".

Repeated abuses of the statute by the Department prompted the Legislature to add that: "The permit conditions must ensure that the project provides proper protection for fish life, but the department may not impose conditions that attempt to optimize conditions for fish life that are out of proportion to the impact of the proposed project." RCW 77.55.231 (emphasis added.) To comply with the statute, the Department has developed a formal Mitigation Policy, which provides:

"WDFW shall determine impacts and mitigation. WDFW shall determine the project impact, significance of impact, amount of mitigation required and amount of mitigation achieved based on the best available information . . ."

(PX36, at 4.)

The Court of Appeals nonetheless held that the Department "was not required to find Mr. Beatty's mining operation was likely to harm fish life in order to deny him his permit". (A29.) Rather, said the Court, the question was "whether the potential risk of his proposed operation could

be adequately managed". (*Id.*) This amorphous holding eviscerates the Legislature's clear intent to stop the Department from simply halting activities on the basis of any imagined level of risk to anything.

In fact, there was no risk of any regulatory significance at all. The Court of Appeals found Dr. Crittenden's testimony to this effect to be "too general and not meaningful" and, remarkably, that it "demonstrated the futility of making any kind of quantification or the risk of harm" (A30)—but this was because it was at all times obvious that the risk was so tiny as to be meaningless.

Despite undisputed evidence, accepted by the Court of Appeals, that "[g]enerally, areas ideal for suction dredge mining are not ideal for fish redds" (A4), Dr. Crittenden assumed petitioner might dig *anywhere*, and calculated petitioner's chances of striking a single redd, even under this hyper-conservative assumption, at anywhere between one in ten thousand and one in a million (A7). Notwithstanding the absence of any contrary evidence, the Court of Appeals irrationally disparaged Dr. Crittenden's testimony as useless because petitioner would not select his precise prospecting sites randomly. (A30.) At the same time, the Court of

Only in the case of certain "stream material that collects on the basis of large boulders or rocks" might miners and fish prefer the same areas (A4), hence the Department's ordinary permitting practice of forbidding mining

hence the Department's ordinary permitting practice of forbidding mining in these "pocket gravels". (See, e.g., PX26, at 11, 165 (examples of other permits.) Nothing other than invidious hostility to petitioner could explain the Department's illegal refusal to simply incorporate such a provision in petitioner's permit, and reduce the risk to zero (see also A7).

Appeals also declined to require the Department to conform to law or its own policy and prepare its own impact estimate, apparently based on the erroneous finding petitioner had presented no information explaining why the work window should not be applied. (A23.)

The Court of Appeals decision turns biologists loose to simply manage "risk" with no standards at all, and is especially problematic because the risk perceptions of the Department and biologists are in a different universe than anything the legislature intended. The "overriding purpose" of the statutes entrusted to the administration of the Department of Fish and Wildlife "is to provide for wise use of *the resource*, which is the broadest possible definition of conservation". *Northwest Gillnetters Association v. Sandison*, 95 Wn.2d 638, 643 (1981) (emphasis added). It is not about protecting every single fish or fish egg.

The biologists' testimony, however, was to the contrary:

"Q: So the department's position is that because there are so many things going on, we cannot have any quantitative evaluation of risk, and we must protect every single egg; is that the gist of what you're saying here?"

"A: Yes. There's a lot of variety out there."

(CP390:15-20 (Mr. Harvester; emphasis added); see also CP245:22-246:1

(Mr. Meyer).) The permit writer, Mr. Meyer, testified that he acted in accordance with the Department's Policy that "[a]voiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action" was the

required option. (*Compare* PX36, at 1 *and* CP251:20-21 ("My job is to avoid the impact as its [sic—should be "the" or "my"] highest priority . . .").) Mr. Meyer believed he was required to condition the permit to avoid *any* possibility of *any* impact of *any* magnitude. (CP250:7-19; 251:13-254:3.)<sup>2</sup>

In short, the Court of Appeals interpreted this 1943 statute to give the Department power vastly in excess of even the federal Endangered Species Act, where actions may proceed so long as "the taking will not appreciably reduce the likelihood of the survival and recovery *of the species* in the wild". *See* 16 U.S.C. §§ 1536(a)(2); 1539(a)(2)(B)(iv) (emphasis added). At the same time, however, the Department has the power under the statute to issue no such restrictions at all.

2. This Court Should Protect Washington Citizens from Staggeringly Arbitrary and Unconstitutional Limitations on the Use of Private Property.

Hydraulic permits arise in a wide variety of contexts, including highway construction projects that are routinely permitted notwithstanding significant impacts on even federally-listed endangered species.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals cited a scrap of contradictory testimony by Mr. Harvester denying an intent to protect every egg, and suggested that the concept of work windows "contemplates some harm to fish eggs and fish life that develop outside the specified dates". (A20-21.) No evidence supports this conclusion—the whole basis of petitioner's detailed scientific evidence dismantling the work windows was that the windows forbid operation when no eggs were in the gravel at all.

"Q: Let's talk about other activities. People do things in streams other than mining, correct?"

"A: Correct."

"Q: Many times these in-water work windows are changed for those type of activities, correct?"

"A: Correct."

"Q: And people in particular, they're given permits that allow them to dry out creeks, to pour tons of gravel into the creek, to cover up bridge abutments, to armor the shoreline or riverbank so their property doesn't wash away. That's the type of thing that's granted under hydraulic permit applications all the time, right?"

"A: Correct."

"Q: And these rivers and streams where this occurs, these are all over Washington, and it's fair to say that rainbow trout are all over Washington, correct?"

"A: Correct."

(CP247:15 -248:7.)

As Mr. Harvester explained, "it's always a judgment call" (CP200:5-6): some citizens can drain 1,000 feet of river and kill everything (e.g., PX12, at 7; see also PX13-14), and some like petitioner can't dig a hole that doesn't kill anything (although in other contexts, the same type of activity is declared insignificant (see, e.g., PX12, at 13; PX72; CP264:6-265:15 (permits to dump rip rap)). Washington is supposed to be a state governed by laws, not the arbitrary whims of biologists. It has long been the rule in Washington that "legislative power

may not be delegated to an administrative agency without the prescription of reasonable standards". *Rody v. Hollis*, 81 Wn. 88, 91 (1972). The Department manifestly lacks reasonable hydraulic permitting standards.

This Court has previously upheld the hydraulic permitting provisions against a vagueness attack. In *State v. Crown Zellerbach Corp.*, 92 Wn.2d 894 (1979), the State pursued a criminal prosecution against Crown Zellerbach for failure to comply with conditions in a hydraulic permit. Crown Zellerbach challenged the statute as not "meet[ing] the criteria for lawful delegation" of legislative power. *Id.* at 900.

This Court found that the general statutory standard for "protection of fish life" was adequate to avoid a delegation challenge, "particularly in light of our stated view that environmental factors are not readily subject to standardization or quantification". *Id.* This Court cited the then-recent case of *Polygon Corp. v. City of Seattle*, 90 Wn.2d 59 (1978), for this proposition. *See Polygon*, 90 Wn.2d at 69 ("environmental factors, *especially those involving visual considerations*, are not readily subject to standardization or quantification"; emphasis added).

More recent cases have recognized that the premise of *Crown*Zellerbach and *Polygon*—that no standards can be supplied in the environmental context—was simply erroneous. For example, in *Anderson* 

v. City of Issaquah, 70 Wn. App. 64 (1993), the Court of Appeals overturned the denial of building permit on the basis that the design was not "harmonious" or "compatible". *Id.* at 75-76. The court noted that even "aesthetic considerations are not impossible to define in a code or ordinance," citing examples. *Id.* at 78.

Many decades of evolving environmental regulation and science since the *Crown Zellerbach* case have made it eminently possible for the Legislature or Department to provide more precise standards for fish protection, especially in a context where staggering sums are routinely expended to assess the status and health of fish populations. The statutory language barring permit conditions that are "unreasonable" (RCW 77.55.021(7)(a)) or "out of proportion" (RCW 77.55.231) is clearly not working to prevent abuses like the singling out of petitioner.

The Crown Zellerbach court had also imagined that adequate procedural safeguards were available through judicial review under the administrative procedures act, Crown Zellerbach, 92 Wn.2d at 901, but this case proves that supposition false. As the Anderson court explained, "the appellate process is to no avail where the statute at issue contains no ascertainable standards . . . .". Anderson, 70 Wn. App. at 81.

The *Crown Zellerbach* holding was also premised on the notion that "appropriate standardized technical provisions, with minor variation,

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