I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a permit authorizing Petitioner Bruce Beatty to 

vacuum streambed materials through a suction dredge to mine gold. In 

approving this permit, the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife 

(WDFW) included a timing window adopted by rule to protect fish species 

that spawn and incubate during the time Beatty sought to dredge. WDFW 

declined to grant Beatty's requested timing extension because he refused 

to tell the biologist where, along the 2.5-mile stream, he sought to dredge. 

Without that information, WDFW could not meaningfully evaluate and 

balance the risk of allowing dredging outside the work window. 

Beatty's unwillingness to give WDFW the information it needed to 

evaluate the risk of his dredging operations does not raise an issue of 

substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). His 

theories that he was singled out and that WDFW follows a "protect every 

egg" approach are unsupported by the record and have been rejected at 

every level of review. This Court has upheld WDFW's application of the 

general standard "protection of fish life." Several statutory and rule-based 

requirements further limit and guide WDFW's discretion. Here, WDFW 

simply needed to know where Beatty sought to dredge to evaluate the 

impacts of allowing a longer work window. Beatty's petition raises no 

issues of substantial interest and should be denied. 



II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

Should review be denied because the Petition does not involve an 

issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) that warrants 

Supreme Court review? 

If review were accepted, the following issues would be presented: 

1. Was WDFW's application of the default work window for 

suction dredging in Fortune Creek reasonable and consistent with 

RCW 77.55.021 and RCW 77.55.231 when Beatty refused to provide 

information justifying an exception? 

2. Does WDFW's implementation of the protection offish life 

standard satisfy the constitutional standard prohibiting vagueness? 

3. Does Beatty bear the burden of proving the invalidity of the 

permit condition when the Administrative Procedure Act (RCW 34.05) 

places the burden on the party challenging the agency action? 

4. Is state regulation of mining for protection of fish life 

consistent with federal law when the state regulation allows certain mining 

techniques year-round and places timing restrictions on other equipment 

·with exceptions based on site-specific and project-specific details? 
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III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. WDFW's Regulation of Mineral Prospecting 

WDFW regulates construction and other work affecting state 

waters under RCW 77.55, the Hydraulic Code. WDFW does so by issuing 

Hydraulic Project Approval (HP A) permits, which can only be 

conditioned for the protection of fish life. Prospecting and mining for 

gold in Washington waters is regulated by WDFW under the Hydraulic 

Code. WDFW adopted rules to allow small-scale mineral prospecting and 

mining activities without the need for individual permits, as directed by 

RCW 77.55.091. These rules are known as the Gold and Fish Pamphlet 

and are codified at WAC 220-110-200 through WAC 220-110-206. 

The Gold and Fish Pamphlet authorizes miners to use certain 

handheld tools year-round without restriction. WAC 220-11 0-201. It also 

authorizes miners to use motorized equipment, like suction dredges, 

during specific dates, known as work windows, established by rule for 

hundreds of streams throughout the state. WAC 220-110-202. Miners 

wishing to prospect or mine outside the work windows or use equipment 

not authorized by the rules may apply foran individual permit based on 

project-specific and site-specific information. RCW 77.55.021(2). 

WDFW developed the work windows for each watercourse listed 

in WAC 220-110-206 by identifying the fish species that reside in the 
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watercourse, and calculating the incubation periods for each of those fish 

species from spawning to emergence. CP 349:4-10. The work windows 

reflect the times each year when fish are not likely to be spawning and 

eggs are not likely to be in the gravel. 

Suction dredges, a common mining technique, float on the surface, 

are powered by gas engines, and can weigh up to 700 pounds. CP 104:11, 

13-14, 15. They can significantly impact fish life when operated in small 

streams at times outside the work windows. CP 363-367. 1 

Direct impacts can include eggs being sucked through the dredge 

nozzle, which results in 1 00 percent mortality soon after fertilization, 

CP 3 63: 12-13, and fluctuating, but nonetheless significant, mortality rates 

during the incubation and development stages, CP 365:23-367:10. 

Indirect impacts can arise from entrainment during the excavation process, 

miners crushing redds (fish nests) while wading, artificial channel 

modification from excavation holes and sediment deposits, water quality 

modifications, temporary dams or water diversions, changes in food 

availability for fish, and disturbance from human activities. R-30 at 7-1 to 

7-30.2 Miners typically excavate areas several feet wide to find gold 

settled on bedrock below the gravel. CP 111:1-6; CP 359:17-360:10. 

1 See Figure 10 in WAC 220-11 0-020(95) for an illustration of a suction dredge. 
2 Exhibits A and R represent the Appellant and Respondent exhibits from the 

Administrative Record compiled by the Pollution Control Hearings Board. 
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B. Beatty Applied for an Individual Permit 

Beatty applied for an individual permit to prospect and mine for 

placer materials in Fortune Creek, .a high-elevation, cold-water stream in 

the Wenatchee National Forest. He sought to use suction dredges with 

six-inch, four-inch, and three-inch nozzles to vacuum streambed material, 

and a highbanker to separate valuable material from streambed material on 

the banks. 3 He submitted a Go ogle map with a hand-drawn arrow 

identifying Fortune Creek, and requested to suction dredge a total of 

300 linear feet anywhere within the 2.5 mile stretch "(f]rom [the] mouth of 

Fortune Creek up stream in an eastward direction." R-1 at 2, 9, 15. 

He requested a five-year permit with an annual work window of 

May 1 through September 30, with four months for suction dredging and 

five months for highbanking. This was well beyond the August 1 through 

August 15 window established for Fortune Creek in the Gold and Fish 

Pamphlet for highbankers and suction dredges (with no larger than four-

inch nozzles). WAC 220-110-206. WDFW biologist William Meyer 

requested clarification as to where he sought to work. Beatty responded: 

I'm looking to prospect Fortune Creek including the North 
and South Forks. I have only been up about 1/3 of a mile 

3 A highbanker is a stationary device used to separate gold from streambed 
materials outside the banks, using water supplied by hand or by pumping. The miner 
supplies streambed material to the highbanker by means other than suction dredging. 
WAC 220-11 0-020(50). See Figure 1 in WAC 220-11 0-020(50) for an illustration of a 
highbanker. 
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R-4. 

from the bridge. Don't know what the rest is like except 
that I do know that this area had been prospected and 
mined a lot by our forefathers. All this previous mining 
was placer mining in nature. I aim to prospect more for the 
source of the placer gold therefore necessitating use of a 
highbanker moreso rather than dredging. 

Meyer approved HPA No. 122729-1 with Beatty's requested work 

window for highbanking from May 1 through September 30. R-2. 

Because Meyer approved a large highbanker in a relatively small stream 

outside the work window, he limited the permit length to two years. He 

explained that "(he] would like to conduct a site visit to evaluate the 

impact to fish life from these mineral prospecting activities" and that 

"Fortune Creek does not have a lot of area for settling ponds to keep 

sediment laden water or spoils from entering the stream." R-6. 

The HPA also authorized Beatty to use suction dredges with six-

inch, four-inch, and three-inch nozzles, but only during the August 1 

through August 15 work window. R-2. Meyer explained, "Fortune Creek 

has both spring and fall spawning fish species. Because both spring and 

fall spawning fish are present, fish eggs are in the gravel prior to and after 

the approved work windows. Therefore, we cannot approve suction 

dredging during these spring and fall periods." But he continued: 

However, if you were to provide us with site-specific 
information where we can conduct a site assessment 
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R-6. 

regarding the impacts to fish life, we may be able to issue a 
permit to allow work with a suction dredge outside the 
standard work window. 

Beatty opted not to provide WDFW with site-specific information, 

and instead appealed the permit to the Pollution Control Hearings Board 

(Board). The Board, the Kittitas County Superior Court, and Division III 

of the Court of Appeals all upheld the permit conditions, concluding 

WDFW reasonably applied the established work windows when Beatty 

requested an exception but refused to identify where he planned to dredge. 

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

Discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is only warranted. "[i]f 

the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Supreme Court." Beatty argues the Court should accept 

review because "the Department desperately needs guidance" as to how to 

interpret the Hydraulic Code. In support of this position, he contends he 

was a victim of discriminatory treatment and that a "lack of standards" 

made that possible. The Court should reject these arguments because they 

are unsupported by the record and because the statutes and rules provide 

sufficient parameters to limit WDFW's discretion. 
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A. Beatty Was Not a Victim of Discriminatory Treatment 

Beatty argues that WDFW refused to extend the work window in 

part because of a letter sent from a WDFW manager to Beatty in January 

2008. This letter apologized for an interaction between WDFW biologist 

Perry Harvester and Beatty's wife during a workshop in the rulemaking 

process.4 But the record is clear that Harvester did hot process or issue the 

permit, and became involved in this matter only after the appeal was filed. 

CP 171:15-172:2. The Board found Harvester's testimony on this point 

credible and found no other evidence to support Harvester having 

influenced the permit conditions. CP 60:15-61 :7. 

More importantly, "[t]he Board [did] not find any substantiation 

for Mr. Beatty's allegation that his permit was handled less favorably than 

others based on personal animosity." CP 61:5-7. The record reflects 

instead WDFW's efforts to work with Beatty to allow suction dredging 

outside the adopted work windows. As both the Board and the trial court 

concluded, the reason Beatty was denied a variance was his refusal to 

provide WDFW with specificity on his intended dredging operations. 

4 Harvester denied any personal conflict with Beatty's wife and explained to the 
Board that he did "nothing other than asking Mrs. Beatty if she had a question, and she 
said she did not have a question regarding the rules, and so [he] asked her to sit down if 
she had no question regarding the rules." CP 204:16; CP 205:14-18. 
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B. WDFW's Application of Duly Adopted Work Windows Does 
Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest 

The Court should reject Beatty's suggestion that WDFW follows 

"only the rule of biologists" and needs this Court's guidance to reign in a 

scheme of "utterly arbitrary power." Pet. at 1. The statutes and rules 

provide sufficient guidance to limit biologist discretion. Here, Beatty 

sought a substantial exception to the duly adopted work windows but 

refused to provide the information necessary to justify that request. No 

amount of additional guidance would have given WDFW the information 

it needed to evaluate Beatty's suction dredge operations and its potential 

impacts to the fish life that spawns in Fortune Creek. Thus, this permit 

condition, which Beatty could have remedied by simply identifying where 

he sought to dredge, does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. 

1. WDFW's Authority Is Limited by Legal Standards 

WDFW regulates hydraulic projects for the protection of fish life 

by evaluating likely impacts and including reasonable permit conditions to 

address them. RCW 77.55.021(1), (7)(a). This Court upheld WDFW's 

approach to regulating hydraulic projects in State v. Crown Zellerbach 

Corporation, 92 Wn.2d 894, 900-01, 602 P .2d 1172 (1979). Beatty asks 

this court to overrule that case. In Crown Zellerbach, the Court evaluated 

WDFW's framework of including technical provisions "tailored with the 

9 



intent to fit the particular project and fish resource needs," and concluded 

it was not unlawful delegation. !d. at 898, 900. The Court held WDFW's 

implementation of the "protection of fish life" standard was "adequate, 

particularly in light of our stated view that environmental factors are not 

readily subject to standardization or quantification." !d. at 900. 

The reasoning of Crown Zellerbach is well founded, and Beatty's 

permit, for which he refused to help WDFW evaluate impacts of his 

proposed dredging outside the work window, provides no basis upon 

which this Court should consider overruling its settled principles. Since 

Crown Zellerbach, WDFW has adopted a myriad of technical provisions 

by rule in WAC 220-110, and additional statutory requirements have been 

added to limit WDFW's discretion. Specifically, the statutes require 

permit conditions to "be reasonably related to the project" and not 

"attempt to optimize conditions for fish life that are out of proportion to 

the impact of the proposed project." RCW 77.55.231(1). 

2. Rule-Based Work Windows Establish a Presumptive 
Baseline of Protection 

The Gold and Fish Pamphlet rules governing mining establish 

conditions based on the type of equipment the miner desires to use and the 

particular watercourses in which the miner desires to work. 

WAC 220-110-200 through WAC 220-110-206. Miners can engage in a 
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variety of prospecting and mining activities without applying for an 

individual permit, so long as the wor~ complies with the Pamphlet rules 

and occurs during the established work windows. 

These presumptive work windows represent the general times 

when suction dredging may occur without damage to fish spawning 

activity, and are tailored for the fish species found in each of hundreds of 

watercourses in Washington. They. provide "a baseline measure of 

protection without any need for further regulatory control." Beatty v. 

Wash. Dep't of Fish and Wildlife,_ Wn. App. _, 341 P.3d 291, 303 

(20 15). When miners request exceptions to the Gold and Fish Pamphlet, 

WAC 220-11 0-200(2), WDFW relies on the default windows for work 

timing unless exceptions are justified by site-specific or project-specific 

circumstances. WDFW considers the nature of the project and its likely 

impact on the fish and habitat where the work will take place. 

Here, Beatty sought exceptions to the equipment type and work 

window authorized by rule for Fortune Creek. He requested to suction 

dredge for four months with the only limitation that he would "follow the 

provisions in the Gold and Fish Pamphlet." R-1 at 8. The WDFW 

biologist explained that Fortune Creek has both spring and fall spawning 

fish species and that he could not approve suction dredging at the times 

. when fish eggs were likely to be in the gravel, without site-specific 
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information to conduct a site assessment regarding impacts to fish life. 

R-6. Beatty refused to provide any additional information. The Board 

correctly summarized the regulatory scheme as follows: 

An applicant cannot expect to obtain approval of an HP A 
relaxing a previously adopted regulation protecting fish 
without providing any grounds or substantiation for the 
deviation. Mr. Beatty has argued that it is WDFW's 
responsibility to calculate risk of harm and investigate the 
specifics of the proposed activity. The Board disagrees and 
concludes that the applicant is responsible for providing the 
information necessary to fully evaluate the impact of 
extending a duly adopted work window. Mr. Beatty failed 
to meet that burden. 

CP 70:16-21. In light of Beatty's unwillingness to provide any more 

detail than his desire to dredge throughout the 2.5-mile stretch of stream, 

WDFW correctly applied the default work windows established in rule to 

protect fish populations spawning when Beatty seeks to· dredge. Nothing 

about this regulatory scheme raises an issue of substantial public interest. 

3. WDFW Does Not Apply a Hyper-Strict "Protect Every 
Egg" Approach · 

Beatty asks this Court to accept review to reign 1n an interpretation 

of the Hydraulic Code that seeks "total preservation." But WDFW does 

not interpret the Hydraulic Code as requiring "total preservation" and 

protection of "every egg." Rather, the statute contemplates that hydraulic

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